Callous-Unemotional Traits and Social Information Processing

as Predictors of Reactive and Proactive Aggression

by

Michael Smith

A thesis submitted to the Faculty of the University of Delaware in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the Degree in Major with Distinction

Spring 2018

© 2018 Michael Smith All Rights Reserved

## Callous-Unemotional Traits and Social Information Processing

## as Predictors of Reactive and Proactive Aggression

by

Michael Smith

Approved: Julie Hubbard, Ph.D. Professor in charge of thesis on behalf of the Advisory Committee

Approved:

Roger Kobak, Ph.D. Committee member from the Department of Psychological and Brain Sciences

Approved:

Anna Klintsova , Ph.D. Committee member from the Board of Senior Thesis Readers

Approved:

Michael Chajes, Ph.D. Chair of the University Committee on Student and Faculty Honors

## ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

I wish to thank my director and professor Julie Hubbard, along with my mentors Fanny Mlawer, Christina Moore, Megan Bookhout, and Lindsay Zajac. I would also like to thank the Peer Relations Lab, my family and my friends; without them and their support none of this would have been possible.

## **TABLE OF CONTENTS**

1	INTRODUCTION	
	The Importance of Aggression in Childhood and Adolescence	
	Reactive and Proactive Aggression	
	Social Information Processing	
	SIP in Relation to Reactive and Proactive Aggression	
	Callous-Unemotional Traits	
	Current Study	
2	METHOD	
	Participants	
	Procedure	
	Measures	
3	RESULTS	
	Descriptive Statistics, Correlations, and Covariates	
	Callous-Unemotional Traits and Social-Information Processing as	
	Predictors of Reactive Aggression	
	Callous-Unemotional Traits and Social-Information Processing as	
	Predictors of Proactive Aggression	
4	DISCUSSION	
	Reactive Aggression	
	Proactive Aggression	
	Limitations and Future Directions	

## LIST OF TABLES

Table 1	Descriptive Statistics	22
Table 2	Correlations	22
Table 3	Regression Predicting Reactive Aggression	23
Table 4	Regression Predicting Proactive Aggression	23

#### ABSTRACT

No research to date has examined the relative contribution of social information processing (SIP) and callous-unemotional (CU) traits to the prediction of reactive and proactive aggression, and that is the goal of the current study. Participants included 150 racially/ethnically diverse adolescents (mean age = 13.53 years) and their parents. Adolescents completed questionnaires reporting their reactive and proactive aggression as well as a task to assess social information processing (including hostile attributional bias, dominance, and positive expectations for aggression), while parents reported on their child's callous-unemotional traits (including three subscales assessing callous, uncaring, and unemotional). When the subscales of SIP and CU traits were entered as simultaneous predictors of reactive aggression, significant positive effects emerged for dominance and positive expectations for aggression and a marginal negative effect emerged for callousunemotional. When the same analysis was conducted to predict proactive aggression, a marginal positive effect emerged for dominance, a marginal negative effect emerged for callous-callous, and a significant positive effect emerged for callous-uncaring. Implications, limitations, and future directions are discussed.

### Chapter 1

## INTRODUCTION

#### The Importance of Aggression in Childhood and Adolescence

Aggressive behavior causes serious problems across the lifespan. Aggression in children accounts for 25% of all special services in schools and half of all child referrals for psychological services (Nelson & Finch, 2000). In adolescence, aggressive youth are responsible for the bulk of criminal conduct (Snyder & Sickmund, 1999). Looking across developmental periods, aggression in childhood is one of the best predictors of adult criminality (Huesmann, Eron, & Dubow, 2002). Aggression is also linked to internalizing disorders such as anxiety and depression (Neumann, Veenema, & Beiderbeck, 2010). These negative outcomes make it important to investigate the predictors of youth aggression.

#### **Reactive and Proactive Aggression**

Aggressive behavior can come in many forms, including physical, verbal, and relational aggressive behaviors. Regardless of the form it takes, aggressive behavior is conceptualized as having two potential underlying functions. The first, reactive aggression, occurs in response to provocation or a perceived wrong (Kempes, Matthys, de Vries, & van Engeland, 2005). In contrast, proactive aggression describes behaviors that are used for instrumental gain (Kempes et al., 2005). An example of reactive aggression would be a child pushing back when a peer pushed him first, whereas an example of proactive aggression would be a child pushing a peer to be first in line. Although reactive and proactive aggression are quite strongly related (Polman, Orobio de Castro, Koops, van Boxtel, & Merk, 2007), they differentially predict a variety of outcomes. For example, reactive aggression is uniquely correlated with impulsivity, inattention, peer rejection, social anxiety, hostility, depression and suicidal behavior (Barry et al., 2007; Evans, Fite, Hendrickson, Rubens, & Mages, 2015; Fite, Fite, Stoppelbein, & Greening, 2009; Polman et al., 2007). In contrast, proactive aggression specifically predicts disruptive behaviors, property crime, and substance use (Camodeca & Goossens, 2005; Fite, Fite, et al., 2009; Fite, Stoppelbein, & Greening, 2009; Miller & Lynam, 2006).

#### **Social Information Processing**

SIP is a construct focused on the cognitive steps that people use to think about social interactions. SIP includes five steps: encoding of situational cues, interpretation of those cues, mental search for possible responses to the situation, evaluation of those responses, and selection of a response (Crick & Dodge, 1994). Impairment at each of the five steps of SIP has been linked to childhood aggression (Orobio de Castro & Van Dijk, 2017). Aggressive children are more likely to interpret ambiguous social cues as hostile than their peers, they are more likely to believe that aggressive responses will result in positive outcomes, and they are more likely to choose aggressive responses to social situations (Orobio de Castro & Van Dijk, 2017).

#### SIP in Relation to Reactive and Proactive Aggression

As this work advanced, researchers discovered that some SIP steps were uniquely linked to reactive aggression, whereas others were more predictive of proactive aggression. Reactive aggression is especially linked to the earlier stages of SIP, including encoding and interpretation of cues. In particular, hostile attributional biases predict reactively aggressive behavior (Arsenio, Adams, & Gold, 2009; Orobio De Castro, Merk, Koops, Veerman, & Bosch, 2005). In an interesting example of this work, Crick and Dodge (1996) measured SIP, as well as proactive and reactive aggression, in a sample of children ages 9-12; children with hostile attributional biases were more likely to display reactive aggression than their peers. A possible consequence of reactive aggressive behavior is that these children may become alienated from their peers, which may in turn lead to inadequate opportunities for social interaction.

In contrast, proactive aggression is more strongly linked to the evaluation of possible responses, with proactively aggressive children evaluating the consequences of aggressive solutions as more positive and less negative (Hubbard, McAuliffe, Morrow, & Romano, 2010) and prioritizing instrumental goals over social goals in peer interaction (Crick & Dodge, 1996). For example, in a study by Arsenio and colleagues in which they studied SIP and its relation to reactive and proactive aggression in a sample of 13- to 18-year-old adolescents, adolescents with higher proactive aggression expected more happiness and fewer moral concerns following aggression (Arsenio et al., 2009).

#### **Callous-Unemotional Traits**

Callous-unemotional (CU) traits are a set of often co-occurring characteristics including lack of empathy, disregard for others, and lack of guilt. CU traits are most often assessed using the Inventory of Callous Unemotional Traits (ICU), a 24-item questionnaire with three subscales (Callousness, Uncaring, and Unemotional). Importantly, a large body of research links CU traits in childhood to concurrent and later delinquency, violent behaviors, aggression, and anti-social behavior (Lynam & Gudonis, 2005; McMahon, Witkiewitz, Kotler, & Conduct Problems Prevention Research Group, 2010). Frick and colleagues examined CU traits in a community sample of children in the 3<sup>rd</sup> through 7<sup>th</sup> grades using an emotional lexical decision task followed by self-report scales of personality; CU traits designated subgroups of children with conduct problems (Frick, Cornell, Barry, Bodin, & Dane, 2003). Another study focused on CU traits as a defining pathway for the development of conduct problems in a similar sample of children. In this study, children with CU traits and conduct problems showed evidence of a lack of behavioral inhibition and a decreased sensitivity to cues to punishment (Frick, Cornell, Barry, et al., 2003). In a study by Jones and colleagues, researchers found reduced amygdala activity in response to fearful faces mediated the relation between CU traits and proactive aggression but not reactive aggression (Jones, Laurens, Herba, Barker, & Viding, 2009). This finding further highlights the relation between CU traits and proactive aggression.

#### **Current Study**

As reviewed above, previous investigations have linked both SIP and CU traits differentially to reactive versus proactive aggression. However, no research to date has examined the relative contributions of SIP and CU traits to reactive versus proactive aggression, and the goal of the current study was to assess these relations in a community sample of adolescents. We hypothesized that both SIP and CU traits would make independent contributions to the prediction of adolescents' aggression. More specifically, we expected that the SIP construct of hostile attributional biases would positively predict reactive aggression, whereas the SIP constructs of dominance goals

and positive evaluations of aggressive responses would positively predict proactive aggression, over and above the contribution of the other subtype of aggression, the other SIP constructs, and CU traits. In addition, we predicted that each of the three subscales of CU traits would positively predict proactive aggression, over and above the contribution of reactive aggression, the SIP constructs, and the other CU trait subscales.

# Chapter 2 METHOD

#### Participants

Participants included 150 adolescents (84 girls, 66 boys; *M* age = 13.53 years; SD = 1.32). Parents reported participants' race or ethnicity as 60.7% European American, 12.0% African American, 10.7% Latino American, 8.7% Asian American, and 8.0% of mixed race or ethnicity. Parents reported annual household income as less than \$20,000 (2.7%), \$20,000-\$50,000 (14.9%), \$50,000-100,000 (26.4%) and greater than \$100,000 (56.1%). All participants had taken part in previous research in our laboratory and agreed to be contacted about future studies. A total of 662 adolescents met this criterion. All families were contacted in a random order, and the first 150 families to complete data collection were enrolled.

#### Procedure

Families were initially recruited by telephone. Families who agreed to participate during this conversation were scheduled for a home visit, and participating parents and youth provided consent and assent respectively at the beginning of the home visit. After providing consent and assent, parents and youth completed questionnaires. Adolescents reported on their reactive and proactive aggression and completed a social information processing task. Parents reported on family demographic information, as well as on their child's callous-unemotional traits.

6

Parents and adolescents were each compensated \$20 at the end of the visit.

#### Measures

**Reactive and proactive aggression.** Participants reported on their tendency to engage in reactive and proactive aggression using the Reactive and Proactive Aggression subscales of the Forms and Functions of Aggression Questionnaire (Little, Jones, Henrich, & Hawley, 2003). This questionnaire asked them to rate the extent to which they engaged in aggressive behavior for reactive or proactive reasons on a five point scale (1 = not at all true and 5 = completely true). Reactive aggression was assessed by six items (e.g., "When others make me mad or upset me, I often hurt them";  $\alpha = .83$ ), and proactive aggression was assessed by six items (e.g., "I often start fights to get what I want";  $\alpha = .70$ ). This self-report measure is a well-validated and reliable scale for use among adolescent samples (Hubbard et al., 2010; Little, Jones, et al., 2003; Little, Brauner, Jones, Nock, & Hawley, 2003). Factor analysis findings confirm a two-factor structure (i.e., reactive and proactive aggression) for the motivations of aggressive behavior with strong internal consistencies (Little, Jones, et al., 2003; Little, Brauner, et al., 2003). Additionally, this measure reliably distinguishes reactive from proactive aggression on emotional constructs, with reactive aggression positively related to frustration and proactive aggression negatively related to frustration when controlling for the other subtype of aggression (Little, Jones, et al., 2003). Items were averaged to create a reactive aggression composite and a proactive aggression composite.

**Callous-unemotional traits.** Parents completed a parent adaptation of the 24item Inventory of Callous-Unemotional Traits (Frick, 2004). This questionnaire asked parents to rate the extent to which their child displayed callous, uncaring and unemotional behaviors on a five-point scale (1= *not at all* and 5= *a whole lot*). Callous behaviors were assessed using eleven items (e.g. "What my child marks thinks is 'right' or 'wrong' is different than what other people think.";  $\alpha$  = .64), uncaring behaviors were assessed using eight items (e.g. "My child cares about how well he/she does at school/work.";  $\alpha$  = .73), and unemotional behaviors were assessed using five items (e.g. "My child does not show his/her emotions to others.";  $\alpha$  = .74). This measure is well-validated and reliable for use in adolescent samples (e.g. Hawes et al., 2013; Waller, Wright, Shaw, Gardner, Dishion, Wilson & Hyde, 2015; Willoughby, Mills-Koonce, Waschbusch, Gottfredson & Family Life Project Investigators, 2015). Items were averaged to create a callousness composite, an uncaring composite and an unemotional composite.

**Social information processing.** Adolescents completed an adapted version of the Social Information Processing Application (Kupersmidt, Stelter, & Dodge, 2011). This measure includes descriptions of 8 scenarios in which one adolescent causes harm to another, but the intention of the provocateur is ambiguous. Examples include an adolescent tripping over a peer's foot in the classroom and an adolescent throwing a ball that hits a peer's science project. After reading each scenario, adolescents answered nine questions. Four items assessed hostile attribution bias (e.g. "Do you think the boy/girl intended to be mean?",  $\alpha = .89$ ), two items assessed dominance goals (e.g. "Would you want to make sure that the boy/girl knows you are the boss and he/she can't push you around?";  $\alpha = .81$ ), and three items assessed positive

8

expectations for aggression (e.g. "If you got back at the boy/girl, would things turn out to be good or bad for you?;  $\alpha = .78$ ). The original Social Information Processing Application is well-validated and reliable for use in child samples (e.g. Kupersmidt, et al., Zajac, Bookhout, Hubbard, Carlson, & Dozier, 2018) and the adaptation of the format from videos to written vignettes is consistent with other studies examining SIP (Crick & Dodge, 1996; Dodge & Coie, 1987). Items were averaged to create composite scores for hostile attributional biases, dominance, and positive outcome expectations for aggression.

## Chapter 3

#### RESULTS

#### **Descriptive Statistics, Correlations, and Covariates**

Means, standard deviations, ranges, and skewness for all variables are provided in Table 1. Bivariate correlations among study variables are provided in Table 2. Notably, subscales from the same measures covaried significantly (the three SIP subscales; the three CU trait subscales). For this reason, all SIP subscales and CU subscales were entered in the regressions described below as simultaneous predictors. In addition, proactive and reactive aggression were significantly related, and thus, the other subtype of aggression was entered as a covariate in regressions predicting each subtype of aggression.

Next, we examined whether age, gender, and race/ethnicity significantly covaried with reactive or proactive aggression. No significant association was emerged for age or race/ethnicity. However, gender (dummy coded 0=girls, 1 = boys) marginally predicted reactive aggression, with girls reporting lower levels of reactive aggression than boys, F(1, 149) = 3.461, p = .065. As such, gender was included as a between-person covariate in all primary analyses.

## Callous-Unemotional Traits and Social-Information Processing as Predictors of Reactive Aggression

In our first regression, we predicted reactive aggression from the three SIP

subscales and the three CU trait subscales, with gender and proactive aggression entered as covariates. We hypothesized that the SIP construct of hostile attributional biases would positively predict reactive aggression over and above the contribution of proactive aggression, the other SIP constructs, and the CU traits subscales.

Results are presented in Table 3. The expected positive relation between hostile attributional bias and reactive aggression did not emerge. However, several unexpected findings were revealed. First, dominance goals emerged as a significant positive predictor of reactive aggression. The effect indicates that, for the average adolescent, a one unit increase in dominance goals is associated with a 0.17 increase in reactive aggression. Second, positive expectations for aggression emerged as a significant positive predictor of reactive aggression, with a one unit increase in positive expectations for aggression associated with a 0.18 increase in reactive aggression. Finally, a marginal negative effect emerged for the Unemotional subscale of CU traits; this effect suggests that a one unit increase in unemotional behaviors is associated with a 0.07 decrease in reactive aggression.

## Callous-Unemotional Traits and Social-Information Processing as Predictors of Proactive Aggression

In our second regression, we predicted proactive aggression from the three SIP subscales and the three CU trait subscales, with gender and reactive aggression entered as covariates. We hypothesized that the SIP constructs of dominance goals and positive evaluations of aggressive responses would positively predict proactive aggression, over and above the contribution of the reactive aggression, the other SIP constructs, and CU traits subscales. In addition, we predicted that each of the 3 subscales of CU traits would positively predict proactive aggression over and above

reactive aggression, the SIP constructs, and the other CU traits subscales.

Results are presented in Table 4. As hypothesized, a positive marginal effect emerged for dominance goals, such that a one-unit increase in dominance goals is associated with a .03 increase in proactive aggression. Also as expected, a significant positive effect emerged for the Uncaring subscale of the CU traits measure (such that a one-unit increase in uncaring behavior is associated with a .04 increase in proactive aggression). Contrary to hypotheses, a marginal negative effect emerged for the Callous subscale of the CU traits measure, such that a one-unit increase in callous behavior is associated with a .26 decrease in proactive aggression. Surprisingly, no effects emerged for the SIP construct of positive expectations for aggression or the Unemotional subscale of the CU traits measure.

## Chapter 4

#### DISCUSSION

The goal of this study was to examine the relative contributions of SIP and CU traits to reactive versus proactive aggression. In a community sample of 150 adolescents, we assessed reactive aggression, proactive aggression, and SIP via adolescent report, and we measured CU traits via parent report. We hypothesized that the SIP construct of hostile attributional biases would be a positive predictor of reactive aggression, and that the positive predictors of proactive aggression would include the SIP constructs of dominance goals and positive outcome expectations for aggression, as well as the three subscales of CU traits. A strength of the study was the use of different informants for SIP versus CU traits.

## **Reactive Aggression**

In contrast to hypotheses, hostile attributional biases did not predict reactive aggression. There are several possible explanations for this null result. First, the hypothetical nature of the SIP assessment may have lacked ecological validity, meaning that participants' cognitions during the task may have differed from their thoughts in similar real-life situations. Second, the low rates of aggression reported by our normative sample may have limited the ability to detect relations to hostile attributional bias. Unexpectedly, a marginal negative relation emerged between the unemotional subscale of the CU traits measure and reactive aggression. Although we did not hypothesize this effect, it is consistent with literature suggesting that reactive aggression is positively related to emotionality or emotional expressiveness, with respect to a range of emotions including anger, anxiety, and depression (Evans et al., 2015; Fite, Fite, et al., 2009).

Also contrary to hypotheses, significant positive relations emerged between reactive aggression and both dominance and positive expectations for aggression, when we predicted that both of these SIP constructs would be positively related to proactive aggression. It is important to note that these findings emerged in the context of an analysis which controlled for proactive aggression, hostile attributional bias, and the CU subscales using a normative sample. For this reason, we hesitate to interpret these effects and instead suggest that replication is needed before interpretation is appropriate.

#### **Proactive Aggression**

As predicted, significant positive relations emerged between proactive aggression and both dominance and the uncaring subscale of the CU traits measure. These findings converge to suggest that adolescents are most likely to proactively aggress when they value domination over their peers and when they lack concern about the well-being of others. Both results suggest that interventions designed to reduce proactive aggression must focus on increasing adolescents' prosocial goals and empathy for peers.

In contrast to what we predicted, a marginal negative effect emerged for the callous subscale of the CU traits measure. This is extremely surprising given previous

14

research linking callousness and proactive aggression. It is possible that the use of parent report data for this construct influenced results, if parents were reluctant to endorse callous items as describing their child.

Of note, expected relations between proactive aggression and both positive expectations for aggression and the unemotional subscale of the CU traits measure failed to emerge. These null findings may be the result of the normative sample studied, the use of verbal as opposed to video stimuli for the SIP measure, or the use of a parent-report version of the CU traits measure. It may also be the case that the number of covariates included in analyses made it difficult to detect true effects.

#### **Limitations and Future Directions**

This study had two significant limitations each of which suggest directions for future research. First, we used a normative sample, and our participants reported fairly low levels of aggressive behavior. Future investigators should address our research questions using samples of adolescents who display higher rates of externalizing behaviors. Second, data collection was limited to self and parent report. The inclusion of peer and teacher report data, along with observational methods, would have enhanced the validity of our measurement. We suggest that future researchers strive to address our research questions using this multi-pronged assessment approach. Despite these limitations, the current study provides preliminary information on the relative contributions of SIP and CU traits to adolescents' display of proactive and reactive aggression.

#### REFERENCES

- Arsenio, W. F., Adams, E., & Gold, J. (2009). Social information processing, moral reasoning, and emotion attributions: Relations with adolescents' reactive and proactive aggression. *Child Development*, 80(6), 1739–1755. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1467-8624.2009.01365.x
- Barry, T. D., Thompson, A., Barry, C. T., Lochman, J. E., Adler, K., & Hill, K.
  (2007). The importance of narcissism in predicting proactive and reactive aggression in moderately to highly aggressive children. *Aggressive Behavior*, *33*(3), 185–197. https://doi.org/10.1002/ab.20198
- Camodeca, M., & Goossens, F. A. (2005). Aggression, social cognitions, anger and sadness in bullies and victims. *Journal of Child Psychology and Psychiatry*, 46(2), 186–197. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1469-7610.2004.00347.x
- Crick, N. R., & Dodge, K. A. (1994). A review and reformulation of social information-processing mechanisms in children's social adjustment. *Psychological Bulletin*, 115(1), 74–101.
  http://psycnet.apa.org/journals/bul/115/1/74.pdf
- Crick, N. R., & Dodge, K. A. (1996). Social information-processing mechanisms in reactive and proactive aggression. *Child Development*, 67(3), 993–1002. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1467-8624.1996.tb01778.x
- Dodge, K. A., & Coie, J. D. (1987). Social-information-processing factors in reactive and proactive aggression in children's peer groups. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 53(6), 1146-1158. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1037/0022-</u>

3514.53.6.1146

- Evans, S. C., Fite, P. J., Hendrickson, M. L., Rubens, S. L., & Mages, A. K. (2015).
  The role of reactive aggression in the link between hyperactive–impulsive behaviors and peer rejection in adolescents. *Child Psychiatry & Human Development*, *46*(6), 903–912. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10578-014-0530-y
- Fite, P., Fite, P. J., Stoppelbein, L., & Greening, L. (2009). Proactive and reactive aggression in a child psychiatric inpatient population: Relations to psychopathic characteristics. *Criminal Justice and Behavior*, 36(5), 481–493. https://doi.org/10.1177/0093854809332706
- Fite, P. J., Stoppelbein, L., & Greening, L. (2009). Proactive and reactive aggression in a child psychiatric inpatient population. *Journal of Clinical Child and Adolescent Psychology*, 38(2), 199.

https://doi.org/10.1080/15374410802698461

- Frick, P. J., (2004). Developmental pathways to conduct disorder: Implications for serving youth who show severe aggressive and antisocial behavior. *Psychology in the Schools, 41*(8), 823-834. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/pits.20039</u>
- Frick, P. J., Cornell, A. H., Barry, C. T., Bodin, S. D., & Dane, H. E. (2003). Callousunemotional traits and conduct problems in the prediction of conduct problem severity, aggression, and self-report of delinquency. *Journal of Abnormal Child Psychology*, 31(4), 457–470.

https://link.springer.com/content/pdf/10.1023%2FA%3A1023899703866.pdf

Hawes, S.W., Byrd, A.L., Henderson, C.E., Gazda, R.L., Burke, J.D. et al., (2014).

Refining the parent-reported Inventory of Callous-Unemotional Traits in boys with conduct problems. *Psychological Assessment, 26*(1), 256-266. . <u>https://doi.org/10.1037/a0034718</u>

- Hubbard, J. A., McAuliffe, M. D., Morrow, M. T., & Romano, L. J. (2010). Reactive and proactive aggression in childhood and adolescence: Precursors, outcomes, processes, experiences, and measurement. *Journal of Personality*, 78(1), 95–118. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1467-6494.2009.00610.x
- Huesmann, L. R., Eron, L. D., & Dubow, E. F. (2002). Childhood predictors of adult criminality: Are all risk factors reflected in childhood aggressiveness? *Criminal Behaviour and Mental Health*, *12*(3), 185–208.
  https://doi.org/10.1002/cbm.496
- Jones, A. P., Laurens, K. R., Herba, C. M., Barker, G. J., & Viding, E. (2009).
  Amygdala hypoactivity to fearful faces in boys with conduct problems and callous-unemotional traits. *American Journal of Psychiatry*, *166*(1), 95–102. https://doi.org/10.1176/appi.ajp.2008.07071050
- Kempes, M., Matthys, W., de Vries, H., & van Engeland, H. (2005). Reactive and proactive aggression in children A review of theory, findings and the relevance for child and adolescent psychiatry. *European Child & Adolescent Psychiatry*, *14*(1), 11–19. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s00787-005-0432-4</u>
- Kupersmidt, J. B., Stelter, R., & Dodge, K. A. (2011). Development and validation of the social information processing application: A Web-based measure of social information processing patterns in elementary school-age boys. *Psychological*

Assessment, 23(4), 834–47. https://doi.org/10.1037/a0023621

- Little, T. D., Brauner, J., Jones, S. M., Nock, M. K., & Hawley, P. H. (2003).
  Rethinking aggression: A typological examination of the functions of aggression. *Merrill-Palmer Quarterly*, 49(3), 343-369.
  https://doi.org/10.1353/mpq.2003.0014
- Little, T. D., Jones, S. M., Henrich, C. C., & Hawley, P. H. (2003). Disentangling the "whys" from the "whats" of aggressive behavior. *International Journal of Behavioral Development*, 27(2), 122-133. https://doi.org/10.1080/01650250244000128
- Lynam, D. R., & Gudonis, L. (2005). The development of psychopathy. Annual Review of Clinical Psychology, 1, 381–407. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev.clinpsy.1.102803.144019

McMahon, R. J., Witkiewitz, K., Kotler, J. S., & Conduct Problems Prevention Research Group. (2010). Predictive validity of callous-unemotional traits measured in early adolescence with respect to multiple antisocial outcomes. *Journal of Abnormal Psychology*, *119*(4), 752–63. https://doi.org/10.1037/a0020796

- Miller, J. D., & Lynam, D. R. (2006). Reactive and proactive aggression: Similarities and differences. *Personality and Individual Differences*, 41, 1469–1480. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.paid.2006.06.004
- Nelson, W. M., & Finch, A.J. (2000). Managing anger in youth: A cognitive-behavioral intervention approach. In P.C. Kendall (Ed.), *Child & adolescent therapy:*

*Cognitive behavioral procedures* (2nd edition, pp. 129-170). New York, NY: Guilford.

- Neumann, I. D., Veenema, A. H., & Beiderbeck, D. I. (2010). Aggression and anxiety: Social context and neurobiological links. *Frontiers in Behavioral Neuroscience*, 4, 12. https://doi.org/10.3389/fnbeh.2010.00012
- Orobio de Castro, B., Merk, W., Koops, W., Veerman, J. W., & Bosch, J. D. (2005). Emotions in social information processing and their relations with reactive and proactive aggression in referred aggressive boys. *Journal of Clinical Child & Adolescent Psychology*, *34*(1), 105–116.

https://doi.org/10.1207/s15374424jccp3401\_10

- Orobio de Castro, B., & van Dijk, A. (2018). Social-cognitive processes. In J. E. Lochman & W. Matthys (Eds.), *The Wiley handbook of disruptive and impulse-control disorders*. New York: John Wiley and Sons.
- Polman, H., Orobio de Castro, B., Koops, W., van Boxtel, H. W., & Merk, W. W.
  (2007). A meta-analysis of the distinction between reactive and proactive aggression in children and adolescents. *Journal of Abnormal Child Psychology*, 35(4), 522–535. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10802-007-9109-4
- Snyder, H.N., & Sickmund, M. (1999). Juvenile offenders and victims: 1999 National report. Pittsburgh, PA: National Center for Juvenile Justice, U.S. Department of Justice.
- Waller, R., Wright, A.G.C., Shaw, D.S., Gardner, F., Dishion, T.J., et al., (2015). Factor structure and construct validity of the parent-reported Inventory of

Callous-Unemotional Traits among high-risk 9-year-olds. *Assessment, 22*(5), 561-580. https://doi.org/10.1177/1073191114556101

- Willoughby, M.T., Mills-Koonce, W.R., Waschbusch, D.A., Gottfredson, N.C., & Family Life Project Investigators. An examination of the parent report version of the Inventory of Callous-Unemotional Traits in a community sample of first-grade children. *Assessment, 22*(1), 76-85. https://doi.org/10.1177/1073191114534886
- Zajac, L., Bookhout, M. K., Hubbard, J. A. Carlson, E. A., & Dozier, M. (2018).
  Attachment disorganization in infancy: A developmental precursor to maladaptive social information processing at age eight. Manuscript submitted for publication to *Child Development*.

# Table 1Descriptive Statistics

	Min	Max	Mean	SD	Skew
Hostile Attributional Bias	1.31	4.09	2.45	0.56	0.42
Dominance	1.00	4.50	1.93	0.65	0.82
Positive Expectations for Aggression	1.00	4.08	2.02	0.68	0.24
CU Traits-Callous	1.00	3.18	1.75	0.49	0.89
CU Traits-Uncaring	1.00	4.13	2.26	0.67	.54
CU Traits-Unemotional	1.00	4.80	2.74	0.76	0.16
Reactive Aggression	1.00	3.08	1.47	0.40	1.11
Proactive Aggression	1.00	1.50	1.03	0.08	4.04

Table 2Correlations

	1	2	3	4	5	6	7
1. Hostile Attributional Bias							
2. Dominance	.62*						
3.Postive Expectations for Aggression	.35*	.69*					
4. CU Traits- Callous	.09	.08	.13				
5. CU Traits- Uncaring	11	.08	.04	.62*			
6. CU Traits- Unemotional	12	12	.003	.23*	.43*		
7. Reactive Aggression	.30*	.52*	.51*	.11	.11	10	
8. Proactive Aggression	.24*	.34*	.24*	.05	.16	03	.33*

\**p* < . 05.

## Table 3Regression Predicting Reactive Aggression

Predictor	SE B	SE	t
Gender	-0.01	0.06	-0.21
Proactive Aggression	0.74	0.38	1.94
Hostile Attributional Bias	-0.005	0.07	-0.08
Dominance	0.17	0.07	2.30*
Positive Expectations for Aggression	0.18	0.04	3.14*
Callous - Callousness	-0.17	0.07	-0.23
Callous - Uncaring	0.09	.06	1.57
Callous - Unemotional	-0.07	0.04	-1.79+

+*p* < .10; \**p* < .05

 Table 4
 Regression Predicting Proactive Aggression

Predictor	SE B	SE	t
Gender	-0.01	0.06	-0.21
Reactive Aggression	0.04	0.19	1.94
Hostile Attributional Bias	0.14	0.01	1.01
Dominance	0.03	0.02	1.89 +
Positive Expectations for Aggression	-0.01	0.01	-0.42
CU Traits - Callous	-0.26	0.02	-1.67+
CU Traits - Uncaring	0.04	0.01	2.86*
CU Traits - Unemotional	-0.01	0.01	-0.68

+ *p* < .10; \**p* < .05